THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
JUN 28 2017
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Aisha Taylor, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Commissioner

WCC File No. 1318602

Appellate Case No. 2017-001246

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Commission err in finding as fact that the Claimant sustained a compensable injury by accident to her shoulders, the error being that the evidence does not support the fact that the Claimant sustained an injury from the accident?
2. Did the Commission err in finding as fact that the Claimant sustained a compensable injury by accident to her shoulders, the error being that the Claimant did not meet her burden of proof that she sustained an injury from the accident?
3. Did the Commission err in concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant sustained a compensable injury by accident to her shoulders, the error being that the evidence does not support the fact that the Claimant sustained an injury from the accident?
4. Did the Commission err in concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant sustained a compensable injury by accident to her shoulders, the error being that the Claimant did not meet her burden of proof that she sustained an injury from the accident?
5. Did the Commission err in finding as fact that the Claimant is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, the error being that the evidence does not support the finding?
6. Did the Commission err in finding as fact that the Claimant is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, the error being that the Claimant did not meet his burden of proof?
7. Did the Commission err in concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, the error being that the evidence does not support the finding?
8. Did the Commission err in concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant is entitled to temporary total disability benefits, the error being that the Claimant did not meet his burden of proof?
9. Did the Commission err in finding as fact that the Claimant is entitled to medical treatment, the error being that the evidence does not support the finding?
10. Did the Commission erred in finding as fact that the Claimant is entitled to medical treatment, the error being that the Claimant did not meet his burden of proof?
11. Did the Commission err in concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant is entitled to medical treatment for her arms and shoulders, the error being that the evidence does not support the finding?
12. Did the Commission err in concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant is entitled to medical treatment for her arms and shoulders, the error being that the Claimant did not meet his burden of proof?

13. Did the Commission err in appointing Dr. Nahigian as the authorized treating facility, the error being that the defendants have the right to choose the treating physician pursuant to McKinney v. Kimberly Clark Corp?
14. Did the Commission err in determining that the claimant was not at MMI for her wrist injuries and the defendants were not entitled to an overpayment, the error being that this finding is not supported by the evidence and is an error of law?
15. Did the Commission err in determining that the defendants are responsible for all previously sought medical treatment for the arms and shoulders, the error being that this finding is not supported by the evidence and is an error of law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was before the Single Commissioner on August 17, 2016 in Columbia, South Carolina. The hearing was to determine issues set forth in Defendants' Form 21. This is an admitted accident to the claimant's **right hand injury (wrist)** which occurred on October 8, 2013 and the defendants filed a Form 21 stating the claimant was at MMI for that body part and to pay permanency and request overpayment of temporary total disability.

The claimant contends in a Form 50 filed July 2015, years after the initial accident, and a year after she last worked for the employer, that her shoulders are also injured. She further states that she is not at MMI for her wrist and wants additional treatment. Defendants denied compensability to the shoulders because the medical records show that she has had shoulder problems since 2005 and consistently complained of shoulder problems until the date of accident. She never mentions problems with her shoulders as a result of her job in any medical record until 2015. In fact, the claimant states on numerous occasions that her problems with her shoulders were the result of a whiplash injury in 2009 and she has been in pain ever since. (Def.'s APA p. 465)

The purpose of the hearing was to determine if employer/carrier is entitled to pay compensation to the Claimant, if employer/carrier is entitled to a credit for temporary total

disability benefits paid in excess of award, and if the claimant suffered compensable repetitive trauma injuries. An order was issued on November 9, 2016, which found that the claimant was not at MMI for her wrist issue and found that the shoulders were compensable because “the claimant suffered a repetitive trauma **exacerbations** to her **preexisting** bilateral shoulder conditions” including bilateral rotator cuff tears due to years of overhead work. The hearing commissioner ordered payment of all medical treatment, directed treatment through Dr. Nahigian, and payment of temporary total disability benefits. Defendants appealed. The Appellate Panel affirmed the decision of the Hearing Commissioner and the Defendants appealed to this Court.

ARGUMENTS

1. **The Commission erred in determining that the claimant has repetitive trauma exacerbations to her preexisting bilateral shoulder conditions including bilateral rotator cuff tears due to years of overhead work.**

(Questions Presented 1-4; 11, 12, & 15)

The Commission found as fact that the Claimant has alleged repetitive trauma **exacerbations** to her **preexisting** bilateral shoulder conditions including bilateral rotator cuff tears due to years of overhead work. (H.T. p. 8, l. 1-23; Defendant’s APA #5, pp. 807-11). Because this finding incorporates two separate facets of workers compensation law: 1. Aggravation of a pre-existing condition and 2. Repetitive Trauma. As such, I will address each fact separately.

The claimant did not meet the legal requirements of an aggravation of a pre-existing condition. Under S.C. Code 42-9-35, the claimant has the burden of meeting specific requirements.

(A) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:

- (1) The subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or,
- (2) The preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.

No doctor has stated that the claimant suffered an aggravation of a pre-existing condition and no medical questionnaire was offered stating the same. Therefore the finding that she had an aggravation of her pre-existing condition was erroneous. Further, even if there were an aggravation no one has determined to what extent it came if any from a work injury.

The claimant also did not meet the requirements of a repetitive trauma injury. “Repetitive trauma injuries...have a gradual onset caused by the cumulative effect of repetitive traumatic events or “mini accident” See Schurlknight v. City of North Charleston, 352 S.C. 175, 174, 574 S.E.2d 194 (S.C. 2003). The first time that the repetitive nature of the claimant’s job was ever brought into question was in the claimant’s 2015 appointment with Dr. Nahigian. She never mentioned anything about the repetitive nature of her job with regards to her shoulder in the numerous years prior to this date of injury. (Dep. of Dr. Nahigian p. 10) All shoulder complaints mentioned by the claimant are listed below:

<i>Date</i>	<i>Provider</i>	<i>Narrative</i>	<i>APA</i>
11/09/05	Dr. Singleton	Follow up after ER visit, noticed low back/right arm pain. Assessment: CT head, PT evaluation 1. headache 2. lumbar/cervical strain, right arm pain	710
11/22/05	Dr. Singleton	Follow up after MVA, still complains of low back, head, face pain. Assessment: continue meds/PT 1. Headache 2. Cervical strain 3. Lumbar strain 4. Right arm pain	711
12/22/05	Dr. Singleton	Follow up after MVA, still complains of low back pain off/on, wants another x ray of back. Assessment: Improved, d/c Motrin, Rx Lodine 1. Headache 2. Cervical strain 3. Lumbar strain 4. Right arm pain 5. Costochondritis	714
01/06/06	Dr. Singleton	Follow up after MVA-doing a lot better Assessment: Released, d/c Motrin, Rx Lodine 1. Headache 2. Cervical strain	715

		3. Lumbar strain 4. Right arm pain	
09/08/08	Family Health Dr. W. Deasalso needs something for arthritis pain in her shoulders. Exam: right shoulder pain/stiffness	778
09/23/08	Family Health J. Degen pain in shoulders/low back, pressure, intermittent, aggravated by lifting	777
12/17/09	TRMCpresents after MVA, rear-ended IMPRESSION: Shoulder sprain	45
12/29/09	Family Health Dr. Apraku	Presents after MVA, pain in neck/back, headaches, shoulders and abdominal pain. Exam: tenderness on palpation/spasms of shoulders	774
04/19/10	Family Health Dr. W. Deaspain down right arm and some down left arm for approximately 3 weeks; bilateral arm pain Assessment: Inflammatory myopathy (myositis)	771
05/04/10	Family Health C. Jackson	Pain head, neck, shoulders, arms and down left leg. Complains of pain in joints with "chill feeling" for 5-6 months following MVA.	768
06/26/10	TRMC	PT: pain from base of skull down into bilateral upper trapz	196
06/29/10	TRMC	PT: pain to both shoulders and down forearms.	186
08/19/10	Family Health	Patient presents for review of MRI and follow up after MVA in December 2009, MRI showed mild disc protrusion at C5/6.	763
07/19/11	Family Health	Patient presents with continuous abdominal and neck pain-says her whiplash injury is acting up again-needs prescription	761
10/22/11	TRMC	Patient presents with severe pain in right shoulder. States right arm has been hurting "for a while". History of arthritis, left arm hurts "on and off some"...	315
02/12/12	TRMC	severe pain in bilateral shoulders, decreased ROM due to pain x 2 weeks. History of arthritis... Follow up with Dr. Marro for shoulder pain.	351
04/29/12	TRMC	...bilateral arm pain, worse with movement, toradol injection Impression: Shoulder pain, Rx Lortab	395
09/27/12	TRMC	severe pain to both shoulders. Pain to both shoulders that radiates down arms x 1 week. States "got whiplash a few years ago and has trouble with pain ever since"	465
12/19/12	Family Health	Exam reveals full ROM neck/back and bilateral frozen shoulders with pain on partial abduction. Assessment: Shoulder tendonitis	759
02/08/13	Family Health	presents with right and left arm/shoulder pain, neck pain and right/left hand stiffness/pain and pain in back (thoracic area) on inhalation... Assessment: -Muscle spasm in neck/shoulder	757
03/29/13	Family Health	Patient complains of right shoulder-joint/hand pain x 4 days. Right shoulder and left shoulder after whiplash 1 ½ years ago- ... Exam: tenderness/pain in shoulders, right shoulder- active/passive motion was abnormal. Assessment: Arthralgia of shoulder region; Shoulder tendonitis Plan: Toradol injection, consult with ortho surgery in Columbia for right shoulder pain. Rx: Hydrocodone	756

08/21/13	Family Health	Still having spasms in neck/shoulder muscles-restart Flexeril.	754
08/30/13	TRMC	presents with severe pain in bilateral arms from shoulders down,	580
11/21/13	Family Health	Still has spasms in neck and shoulder muscles-has been unable to afford pain and asthma medications. Complains of pain in right and left shoulder, neck, right and left leg, right foot pain. Exam: shoulders-muscle spasms. Discussed Trigger Point Therapy	750
02/10/15	Family Healthcomplains of Neck and arm pain after whiplash injury, intermittent knee/leg pain. Also hand/finger arthritis with pain in arms	744
04/30/15	Family Healthspasms in right neck and shoulder muscles-restart Flexeril.	741
06/24/15	Family Health	Presents with pain in right arm from shoulder to wrist, also pain in neck and fingers are numb. Had surgery on arm-was going to PT but didn't go today... Pain in right neck/shoulder areas with numbness. Had shoulder surgery in past and also has right ulna nerve injury. Has a lot of spasms in right neck/shoulder muscles. Compliance with PT is stressed.	739
07/06/15	Family Health	Patient presents after ER visit on 07/02/15-xrays showed torn rotator cuff tear-needs referral to Ortho. Pain located in right shoulder-sharp. Exam: shoulder joints have full ROM, no instability or weakness. Right shoulder-tenderness on palpitation at cuff insertion, pain on active and external motion/rotation; Left shoulder-normal exam Assessment: -Pain in right shoulder joint(s) X ray from ER showed rotator cuff tear, sling applied, refer to Ortho	738
07/13/15	Family Health	Also had visit here on 07/06/15-rotator cuff tear-needs referral to Ortho. Will get shoulder MRI's via TRMC charity program. Exam: Pain-persistent, sharp, dull, burning, throbbing Assessment: -Chronic left rotator cuff sprain (capsule) -Left rotator cuff tendonitis -Pain in finger joints -Muscle spasms...	736
08/03/15	Family Health	Presents for routine follow up-continues bilateral shoulder pain... Pain located in right and left shoulders-throbbing/aching. MRIs showed complete tears of supraspinatus tendons-says she got injured on the job. Will refer her back to her workplace to arrange WC. Assessment: -Partial tear of right rotator cuff tendon -Left rotator cuff tendonitis	736
09/22/15	SCOI: Dr. Buckaloobilateral shoulder pain x years, presents today to evaluate recently obtained MRI confirming chronic rotator cuff tears	807

		<p>w/retraction and atrophy of associated muscle. Reports she believes that her 30 years of work at Husqvarna was partially responsible for her rotator cuff condition. Reports that she does not present today for Workmen's Comp.</p> <p>RIGHT SHOULDER MRI Comparison Plain film dated 07/02/15. Clinical Hx: Shoulder pain for years w/limited ROM, evaluate for rotator cuff tear.</p> <p>IMPRESSION:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> 1. Full-thickness full width tearing of the supraspinatus tendon with approximately 3 cm of tendinous retraction. Atrophy of the supraspinatus muscle. 2. Tendinopathy of the infraspinatus tendon with some muscle atrophy. Tearing of the anterior fibers should be considered. 3. Degeneration and probable tearing of the superior labrum. 4. Soft tissue fullness of the rotator cuff interval w/mild associated edema, query symptoms of frozen shoulder. 5. Tendinopathy of the subscapularis tendon. <p>LEFT SHOULDER MRI: IMPRESSION:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> 1. Complete tear of the supraspinatus tendon, retracted to the level of acromioclavicular joint. Atrophy of the supraspinatus muscle belly noted. 2. Acromioclavicular hypertrophy. 3. Tendinopathy of the infraspinatus tendon w/muscular atrophy. 4. Small nondisplaced degenerative tear of the superior labrum. <p>Pt reports she is currently not pursuing surgical options, is having pain and difficulty w/overhead activities for which she reports is a chronic condition. ... Rotator cuff images by MRI are consistent with chronic retracted supraspinatus tendon injuries. The age of injury is unknown but certainly chronic given the atrophy of the associated supraspinatus muscle belly of the shoulder.</p>	
11/11/15	Dr. Nahigian	<p>Patient is seen for initial evaluation of right shoulder injury from using air guns on assembly line for 30 years, onset 2013. Assessment: Complete tear of right rotator cuff, AC joint arthrosis Treatment: exhausted conservative management. Proceed with shoulder arthroscopy, repair, resection and decompression. Patient has a very significant only retracted tear and understands it may not be repairable.</p>	1909
06/13/16	SCOI: Dr. Buckaloo	<p>Questionnaire: 1. Based upon review of med records, can state to a reasonable</p>	1819

	<p>degree of medical certainty that CL suffered from bilateral shoulder pain, arthritis/artralgias, muscle spasms, "frozen" shoulder symptoms and was diagnosed w/bilateral shoulder tendonitis prior to the 10/08/13 incident.</p> <p>2. Based upon treatment/evaluation he provided and upon review of CL's med records, can state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the most probable cause of CL's bilateral complaints stem from pre-existing conditions, predating the accident of 10/08/13.</p>	
--	---	--

While Dr. Nahigian states that the claimant suffered from a repetitive injury with regards to her shoulder, he admitted that he did not know: the duration of overhead work before returning to neutral position; has no idea what type of air gun was used; no idea as to the weight of the air gun; no idea as to the level of the air gun, the force needed to use the air gun; or the frequency of air gun use in an 8 hour date. He testified that he “cannot state to reasonable degree of medical certainty how long the tear was present in the rotator cuff.” (HT p. 43 lines 20-23) He discussed in length the fact that the claimant had pre-existing arthritis and degenerative issues. (HT p. 43) He further testified that her job can be contributory, but no way can he say it’s the only reason why this occurred and that the problems pre-existed her date of injury (HT p. 51 lines 8-13)

Under § 42-1-172 (A): "Repetitive trauma injury" means an **injury which is gradual in onset and caused by the cumulative effects** of repetitive traumatic events.

This tear which became evident in 2015, did not show up until a year after the claimant stopped working for Husqvarna. However, the surgery was already contemplated for the claimant’s shoulder in 2013. Moreover, the job duties were not the cause as the claimant herself stated in numerous medical records that her shoulder began and continued hurting after her 2009 whiplash incident. The claimant herself states in a medical record of 2015 that the shoulder problems were the result of a whiplash injury. She has complained of shoulder pain since 2005. The

record also shows that she has had shoulder pain since 2008 in the form of arthritis and was treated with Dr. Apraku for the pain. She treated for a whiplash injury in 2009 and has visited the doctor consistently for shoulder problems since that date. In September of 2012, she again complains that her shoulder problems are from her whiplash injury and she has not been the same since. On August 30, 2013, less than two months before her alleged date of accident with the employer, she presented with severe shoulder pain to TRMC and mentions nothing about her work. (Def.'s APA p. 580) At her visit in February 2015 at Family Health Centers, she mentions her neck pain cause was the motor vehicle accident and states nothing about a work injury. (Def.'s APA p. 744) As stated above she had extensive treatment for her shoulder and there was no mention of any work injury to her shoulder.

Dr. Buckaloo, who treated the claimant numerous times for her wrist problems specifically stated that the claimant had pre-existing shoulder issues and the issues were degenerative and not work related in his treatment note of 2013. Moreover, the claimant returned to Dr. Buckaloo on September 22, 2015 and he opined that while the bilateral shoulder injuries were age-indeterminate, they were certainly chronic given the atrophy of the associated supraspinatus muscle belly of the shoulder. He never stated that the claimant sustained an aggravation to her shoulders as a result of the work injury. (Defendants' APA #5, p. 811) He again reiterated that the claimant's problems with her shoulders were not work related in his questionnaire of 2016. He specifically stated that that the bilateral shoulder complaints stem from preexisting conditions predating her October 8, 2013 right wrist injury. (Defendants' APA #21, pp. 1819-20).

The Hearing Commissioner and the Appellate Panel gave more weight to Dr. Nahigian's opinion rather than Dr. Buckaloo's because Dr. Nahigian did her shoulder surgery and Dr. Buckaloo only saw the claimant one time. This statement is untrue. Dr. Buckaloo treated the claimant for

years for her work injuries as well as for a neck problem she was having in 2010 in which she had radicular pain. He knew of her medical history and was present at the onset of the claim. He stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the injury was not work related. Moreover, Dr. Buckaloo's medical records correspond with this questionnaire.

Dr. Nahigian's opinion changed three times as to whether the shoulder problems were work related. In fact, Dr. Nahigian had no knowledge of the claimant having prior shoulder problems before the 2013 date of injury. Dr. Nahigian himself admitted at his deposition that he had virtually no knowledge of the claimant's job duties. As such, the claimant did not meet her burden of proving a repetitive trauma accident.

2. The Commission erred in determining that the claimant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits and medical benefits.

(Questions Presented 5-12, 14, and 15)

The claimant received extensive medical treatment for her wrist, which is the only accepted body part in this claim. The claimant was found at MMI and released by numerous doctors for her only accepted body parts. Therefore, the claimant is not entitled to TTD and medical benefits with regard to her wrists. Maximum Medical Improvement is an appropriate point to terminate temporary benefits. Smith v. South Carolina Department of Mental Health, 335 S.C. 396, 517 S.E.2d 694 (1999). Moreover, the claimant cannot show an inability to earn wages as she testified that she has worked since the date of MMI sitting with the elderly and was pursuing further work doing the same. To be entitled to temporary total disability benefits, one must have a total incapacity to work. S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-9-10 (Supp. 2002); 67 S.C. Code Ann. Regs 502(F) (Supp. 2008). It is clear that the claimant is not entitled to further benefits and the defendants should receive credit for the TTD paid after the last date of MMI.

The claimant did not meet her burden of proving a compensable aggravation caused by repetitive trauma to her shoulder entitling her to medical benefits and TTD as discussed above. Also, there is no evidence that any shoulder problems are keeping her from work as she has worked since the date of accident, is pursuing other jobs, and in vocational rehabilitee. The Commissioner's finding of TTD and medical benefits was in error.

3. The Commission erred in determining that Dr. Nahigian is the authorized treating physician.

(Question Presented #13)

The Commission erred in determining that Dr. Nahigian should provide medical treatment. There was no basis for this appointment and this was error because this is not a situation under 42-15-60(a), that calls for the Commission to appoint a treating physician because the shoulder is a denied body part and treatment has been authorized for the wrist:

(A) The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. In addition to it, the original artificial members as reasonably may be necessary must be provided by the employer. During any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown. The refusal of an employee to accept any medical, hospital, surgical, or other treatment or evaluation when provided by the employer or ordered by the commission bars the employee from further compensation until the refusal ceases and compensation is not paid for the period of refusal unless in the opinion of the commission the circumstances justified the refusal, in which

case the commission may order a change in the medical or hospital service. **If in an emergency, on account of the employer's failure to provide the medical care as specified in this section, a physician other than provided by the employer is called to treat the employee, the reasonable cost of the service must be paid by the employer, if ordered by the commission.**

The Employer did not fail to provide medical care as specified in this section because they were not obligated to do so under the statute with regard to the shoulders/arm. Further, they already provided extensive treatment to the claimant's wrists. Therefore, there is no reason for the commission to order the direction of treatment by a specific physician. Pursuant to McKinney v. Kimberly Clark Corp, 658 S.E.2d 112 (App. 2008), the defendants have the right to choose the physician.

CONCLUSION

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