THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Aisha Taylor, Commissioner
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Commissioner

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1318602

Appellate Case No. 2017-001246


RECEIVED
JAN 18 2018
SC Court of Appeals

DOROTHY MILLER.....RESPONDENT,

v.

Husqvarna, EMPLOYER, and Ace American Insurance Company.....APPELLANTS.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT


Richard C. Alexander, Esq.
Shelly Leeke Law Firm, LLC
3614 Ashley Phosphate Rd.
North Charleston, South Carolina, 29418
Telephone: (843) 297-8485
Facsimile: (843) 297-8497
chip@leekelaw.com

Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

Shelby G. Hapeshis, Esq.

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

ARGUMENTS

- I. The Single Commissioner's finding of repetitive trauma injuries to the shoulders and an exacerbation of this preexisting condition in Claimant's shoulders due to bilateral rotator cuff tears is supported by the greater weight of the evidence and the applicable law and should be affirmed.**

Claimant has worked for Husqvarna off and on since 1994. Her position with Husqvarna is a machine operator. Claimant's bilateral shoulder complaints were not first brought into question when she saw Dr. Nahigian in November 2015. In fact, the claimant made repeated inquiries about her shoulders after her acute work injury in October 2013, but due to her shoulders not being authorized for treatment, nothing was done to address her complaints. That is, until May 13, 2015 through June 30, 2015 when Claimant attended therapy with Sports Plus Physical Therapy where she was treated for symptoms in her right arm in addition to symptoms in **both** shoulders. (R. pp. 651-72). She attended regular therapy appointments during this time and was treated for ongoing complaints in her shoulder. On June 30, 2015, Claimant was released from therapy because she was not making progress on her shoulder range of motion, was not making any functional gains from therapy, and had met her maximum rehab potential, NOT maximum

medical improvement. (R. pp. 670-71). She was released not because there was nothing more that could be done for her shoulders but because conservative measures had failed, and surgery was necessary.

On September 22, 2015, Claimant presented to Dr. Buckaloo complaining of bilateral shoulder pain for multiple years. This visit was not covered by or at the direction of Defendants. Dr. Buckaloo noted decreased range of motion bilaterally in the shoulders, and he reviewed a July 17, 2015 MRI of the right shoulder and a July 28, 2015 MRI of the left shoulder that showed various tears and degenerative issues bilaterally. Dr. Buckaloo opined these were age indeterminate but certainly chronic based on the atrophy of the associated supraspinatus muscle belly of the shoulders (R. pp. 600-04).

On November 11, 2015, Claimant began treatment with Dr. Nahigian of Carolina Shoulder and Knee Specialists for her bilateral rotator cuff tears. Dr. Nahigian's treatment notes mentioned the cause of injury being overhead use of air guns (R. p. 163). His physical examination and review of radiology reports confirmed rotator cuff tears, and because she had exhausted conservative treatment, he proceeded with right shoulder arthroscopy, rotator cuff repair, distal clavicle resection, and subacromial decompression on December 8, 2015 (R. pp. 163-65, 181-82).

Dr. Nahigian has provided multiple consistent opinion statements since March 2016 where he has stated that Claimant's bilateral rotator cuff tears are work-related. On March 14, 2016, Dr. Nahigian completed a questionnaire at the request of Charles McCutchen, Esq. where he opined, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that the proximate cause of Claimant's bilateral rotator cuff tears was repetitive actions arising out of her employment. While Dr. Nahigian stated that no additional medical treatment or surgeries would be needed, and she has reached maximum medical

improvement, he clarified during his deposition that he thought questions 3, 4, and 5 were pertaining only to the right shoulder, which he had already repaired (R. pp. 177-78, 158-59).

On May 26, 2016, Counsel for Claimant sent a questionnaire to Dr. Nahigian where he responded, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Claimant suffered bilateral rotator cuff tears due to repetitive trauma injuries and that there was a direct causal relationship between the condition under which the work was performed and the injuries sustained. He stated that his opinion was based on Claimant's history and symptoms reported as well as signs shown on physical examination. He opined that she would benefit from additional treatment (R. pp. 282-85).

On June 27, 2016, Dr. Nahigian participated in a deposition where he testified that the damage in her right shoulder included severe changes to the right AC joint that are common with people doing her type of work (R. pp. 141-42, 144, 148, 155-56). In a July 1, 2016 follow up questionnaire after the deposition, Dr. Nahigian opined, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that based on the facts and information presented at his deposition, that nothing had changed regarding his opinion from the May 26, 2016 questionnaire he completed. Additionally, Dr. Nahigian opined that the claimant would require future medical treatment for her left shoulder including but not limited to an MRI, surgery, and therapy (R. pp. 284-85).

Dr. Nahigian's opinion does not change back and forth, as Defendants claim. Dr. Nahigian was presented with questions about Claimant having prior shoulder complaints, and Defense Counsel attempted to focus on a specific date of onset and whether Dr. Nahigian could state with a reasonable degree of medical certainty when her repetitive trauma injury occurred (R. pp. 123-36). This focus on a specific date of injury is irrelevant in a repetitive trauma injury case under S.C. Code Ann. §

42-1-172, and Dr. Nahigian's inability to state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty what specific date her bilateral rotator cuff tears occurred on is moot.

Defendants have supplied a graph in their Initial Appellant Brief with various treatment dates in Claimant's past that are apparently related to her shoulder complaints. However, of the twenty-eight visits Defendants have referenced (and one questionnaire), nine of those visits make no mention of shoulder complaints and another nine were after the admitted right wrist injury. Of the visits Defendants have mentioned, exactly zero of those visits have a physician stating what the cause of Claimant's bilateral shoulder complaints are, except for Dr. Nahigian relating them to her work.

Dr. Buckaloo's opinion that the cause of the shoulder injuries predated the October 8, 2013 right wrist injury is, first, in direct contravention to his medical records noting they are age-indeterminate and, second, erroneous, as S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(A) and South Carolina case law make no requirement of having a precise date. Under the statute, it clearly specifies the injury is **gradual** in onset. Because a repetitive trauma injury was disease-like in its gradual onset does not preclude it from coverage as an injury by accident, and a lack of definite time of injury is not dispositive. *Pee v. Avim, Inc.*, 352 S.C. 167 (2002). Moreover, Defendants have attempted to rely on Claimant complaining about shoulder pain after a motor vehicle accident as medical evidence or opinion that detracts from Dr. Nahigian's findings.

Defendants appear to make a claim of this being untimely although no specific argument for that was made during the hearing and should be dismissed as not preserved. However, to address any issue, it is clear that the last day of exposure is the date from which the statute of limitations would begin running in a repetitive trauma injury case. *Schurlknight v. City of N. Charleston*, 352 S.C. 175 (2002). Claimant became aware of the bilateral rotator cuff tears from July 2015 MRIs and

immediately amended her Form 50, which was well within two years.

Respondent respectfully contends that the Single Commissioner committed no legal or factual error in this regard. Regardless of finding that the Claimant alleged an exacerbation of a preexisting condition in the rotator cuff tears, he has relied on the medical evidence and opinions available to find repetitive trauma injuries that were directly caused by Claimant's work under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(B). Whether the injuries were repetitive trauma tears or whether there was osteoarthritis due to years of overhead work that culminated (at some point) with bilateral rotator cuff tears is inconsequential, as the preponderance of the evidence shows the bilateral shoulder injuries are compensable. As such, the November 9, 2016 Decision and Order should be affirmed.

II. The Single Commissioner properly found Claimant is entitled to temporary total disability benefits and medical benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10.

Employer has been unable to accommodate Claimant's restrictions. At the time of her release for the admitted injury, a dispute arose as to whether the Claimant's bilateral shoulder injuries were compensable, which has led to this extended period of continued temporary total disability benefits. To date, Defendants have not offered any alternative work, and Claimant has only sporadically been able to work a few days sitting with an elderly person. There is evidence through her hearing testimony that she has been unable to work. Claimant has attempted to complete vocational rehabilitation, but due to her injuries, she has been unable to maintain competitive employment.

Through the medical evidence and opinions presented above, Claimant clearly met her burden of proof to show she has suffered compensable injuries that preclude her from working, and there is no evidence that she was offered alternative duty or that she has maintained subsequent

employment. As such, Respondent respectfully contends that the Single Commissioner committed no legal or factual error in this regard and the November 9, 2016 Decision and Order should be affirmed.

III. The Single Commissioner properly determined Dr. Nahigian would be the authorized treating physician for Claimant's future bilateral shoulder treatment.

Defendants' failure to provide medical care under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60(a) forced Claimant to seek treatment on her own. Claimant's desire to return to work as soon as possible led to a referral to Dr. Nahigian for the treatment of her shoulder injuries. Defendants effectively created an emergency for Claimant in needing to repair her shoulders, so she could return to work. If Claimant had delayed the necessary surgical repair of her compensable shoulder injuries, Defendants could be arguing she delayed recovery in an attempt to stay out of work and would not be entitled to benefits.

Defendants have relied upon *McKinney v. Kimberly Clark Corp.*, 658 S.E.2d 112 (App. 2008) to argue the Single Commissioner does not have the authority to name a treating physician. However, the facts of *McKinney* differ from our case, as the claimant in *McKinney* sought treatment for injuries from a chiropractor that exceeded \$48,000 and retroactively wanted that provider appointed so the employer/carrier had to cover the bill. Here, Claimant sought treatment from a board-certified orthopaedic surgeon, who Defendant's co-counsel even admitted that he had read an unnamed number of reports from presumably related to prior Workers' Compensation claims, which is further testament to his knowledge and prowess (R. p. 113). Defendants will not face prejudice in any regard related to the future cost of treatment, as it will be paid under the fee schedule and would be the same regardless of the surgeon. Fortunately, Defendants will also not face an unnecessary burden in

reimbursing past medical treatment under Dr. Nahigian either, as Claimant's outstanding balance with Dr. Nahigian's office was only \$676.68.

The case relied upon by the claimant in *McKinney* sets the precedent here, as the appellate panel in that case designated a treating physician, and the defendants in that case refused to pay for additional treatment and sought further to have the claimant evaluated by another physician. *Risinger v. Knight Textiles*, 353 S.C. 69, 577 S.E.2d 222 (Ct.App.2002). *McKinney* has clearly stated S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 and § 42-9-10 (1976) do not give a unilateral right to claimants to select their treating physician, but it also does not state that the Commissioner does not have the authority to order a treating physician. Dr. Nahigian has already begun treatment for her bilateral shoulder complaints with a repair of the right shoulder, and there is no reason for Claimant to be required to switch to a new surgeon in the middle of her treatment.

As such, the Single Commissioner is afforded the authority to appoint a treating physician. Respondent respectfully contends that the Hearing Commissioner committed no legal or factual error in this regard, and the November 9, 2016 Decision and Order should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully contends the Single Commissioner's findings and conclusions that Respondent sustained compensable bilateral shoulder injuries is supported by the greater weight of the evidence and the applicable law. Therefore, Respondent seeks a full affirmation of the November 9, 2016 Decision and Order.